1940

Joseph F. Merrill v. Bailey & Sons Company;
Seymour N. Bailey and Emma Z. Bailey; J. W.
Summerhays & Sons Company; Colorado Animal
By-Products Company; Leona B. Whitehill; Robert
Bailey Whitehill; C. E. Summerhays; J. J.
Summerhays; and John Snowcroft & Sons
Company : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

This is an appeal from a judgment or decree of the District Court of Salt Lake County, Utah, Hon. P. C. Evans, Judge thereof, in an action brought by plaintiff

to quiet his title to certain real property in Salt Lake City, and situate on the east side of 3rd West Street, Between 4th and 5th South Streets, in said City, and known and described as the South $\frac{1}{2}$ of Lot 3, Block 43, Plat "A", Salt Lake City Survey.

Plaintiff's complaint is in the usual form for an action to quiet title, and prays that title to the real estate be quieted in plaintiff against "all claims of title to, interest in or easement over or upon said land asserted by defendants or any of them," and also prays that defendants, and each of them, be restrained and enjoined from driving trucks or other vehicles over or upon, or from otherwise taking possession of or using "all or any portion of plaintiff's real estate for any purpose whatsoever," and that defendants be required to remove from plaintiff's land a certain concrete loading platform and ramp located thereon. (Ab. 1-4). Defendants separately answered, denying plaintiff's claim of title to said property unencumbered by any easement or right of way in favor of defendants, and setting up their separate and several ownership of certain parcels of land in Lot 2 of said Block and Plat aforesaid immediately adjoining plaintiff's said lands on the south, and alleging in detail the creation and their ownership by grant, reservation and use by the common grantors of the parties and their successors in interest, of certain easements, rights of way and other rights and privileges, over, upon and in and concerning plaintiff's said land, for the use and benefit of defendants' said lands in Lot 2 aforesaid (Ab. 5-56).

Plaintiff replied to defendants' several answers, admitting defendants to be the owners of the several parcels of land adjoining plaintiff's property alleged in their answers, and further admitting that defendants own, and as alleged by them, are entitled to certain easements, rights of way and rights and privileges over, in and upon plaintiff's land, for the use and benefit of their said lands in Lot 2, but denying that said easements, rights of way and privileges are as extensive as alleged by defendants; and plaintiff further admitted that when he became the owner of his said land, there was constructed and open, visible, obvious and apparent, and in use by defendants thereon, a railroad spur track and certain lumber loading platforms; and he alleged that thereafter defendants removed a portion of such lumber loading platforms and replaced the same with a concrete platform and ramp covering a larger area than that covered by the lumber platform, and that the burden upon plaintiff's land was thereby increased and the servitude thereon attempted to be enlarged, and prayed that plaintiff have judgment as prayed in his complaint. (Ab. 56-75). Based upon these replies, defendants moved the Court for a judgment on the pleadings upon the grounds, among others, that the said replies are complete departures from plaintiff's complaint and constitute admissions of defendants' defenses, claims and demands in their answers contained, (Ab. 75-76), which motion was by the Court denied, and the case was tried to the Court without a jury, and resulted in a judgment or decree which, by its terms, and in entire disregard of the grants and reservations con-

tained in the deeds of defendants and their predecessors in interest, excludes defendants from all of plaintiff's property north of said railroad spur track, as well as some south thereof, and restricts defendants' easements and rights of way, and other rights and privileges over, in and concerning plaintiff's land, to use of said railroad spur track situate thereon, and a small portion of plaintiff's ground to the south of such spur track (Ab. 169-176). The decree further requires the removal of the entire concrete loading platform and ramp constructed thereon pursuant to the right given and reserved in the deeds of defendants and their predecessors in interest, and it is to review this judgment or decree that this appeal has been perfected.

STATEMENT OF FACTS.

As shown by the abstract of title No. 77394 prepared by the Utah Savings & Trust Abstract Company, which was received in evidence and will be herein referred to as Exhibit "X", and as is also admitted by the pleadings in the case, the grants and reservations, by which the common grantors of plaintiff and defendants granted and reserved the easements and rights which defendants claim over and concerning plaintiff's land, are contained in a certain deed dated August 9, 1923, from Bert N. Bailey and wife, and defendants, Seymour N. Bailey and Emma Z. Bailey, his wife (Bert N. Bailey and Seymour N. Bailey being the common grantors of plaintiff and defendants of all of the property here involved), to de-

fendant Bailey & Sons Company, and covering certain of defendants' property in said Lot 2, and reading, so far as the grant of the easements and rights in plaintiff's land are concerned, as follows:

“together with the trackage privilege now in use at the North end of said property. * * *

* * * “Also a perpetual Right to the use of the railroad spur *together with the team, track and auto drive along the North line thereof* and the platform for loading and unloading from vehicles and cars, through and over a part of the South $\frac{1}{2}$ of Lot 3, of said Block and Plat as at present constituted, *with a Right to repair, reconstruct or rebuild the same* as shall from time to time become necessary within its present location.

“Also a perpetual Right of Way for ingress, egress and regress for all purposes over the following strip of ground, to-wit: Commencing 99 feet East of the Northwest corner of said Lot 2, running thence South 76 feet; thence West $40\frac{3}{4}$ feet; thence North $10\frac{1}{2}$ feet; thence East $30\frac{3}{4}$ feet; thence North $65\frac{1}{2}$ feet; thence East 10 feet to the place of beginning, to be kept open for loading and unloading goods, merchandise and other commodities from the platform along the South line of Lot 3, Block and Plat aforesaid, above referred to, together with the right of maintaining a cover or roof over said platform at the North end of said Right of Way.” (Exhibit “X”, No. 25);

and a certain other deed of the same date from defendants, Seymour N. Bailey and wife to Bert N. Bailey, covering said defendants' undivided one-half interest in

what is now plaintiff's property, and reserving said easements and rights of way to and for the use of said Lot 2, in this language:

“Reserving, however, to the grantors the perpetual Right to the maintenance and use of the platform now located on the Southern portion of said premises about 10 feet wide including the overlapping roof for said platform including also the curve thereof along the railway spur as at present constructed, with full right to repair, re-construct or rebuild the same within its present location.

“Also reserving the perpetual Right to the use of the trackage over and along the South line of said premises *and to the premises and to the team, track or auto drive along the said track, all to be used in connection and for the convenience of Lot 2, of said Block for the loading and unloading of merchandise.*

“It is also hereby agreed that without the consent of grantor, Seymour N. Bailey, or his assigns, that no right shall be granted for the use of said railway spur beyond the East end of said Lot 3.” (Exhibit “X”, No. 23);

and the deed by which plaintiff acquired title to his said land from the Bailey brothers' successor in interest thereto, one Walter H. Dayton, dated August 28, 1928, contained a reference to defendants' said easements and other rights, in this language:

“Subject to loading and trackage easements, etc.” (Exhibit “X”, No. 51).

The material facts in the case are not in dispute and may be summarized as follows:

1. In 1905 and 1906, the defendant, Seymour N. Bailey, and his brother, Bert N. Bailey (now deceased) acquired, as tenants in common, the South $\frac{1}{2}$ of Lot 3, Block 43, being the property now owned by plaintiff (Exhibit "X", Nos. 5-8), and about the same time the two brothers also acquired some property in Lot 2 of the same block, and immediately adjoining said property on the south, and from time to time thereafter, the two brothers also acquired other property in said Lot 2, until eventually and by the year 1915, they had acquired and owned all of the property here involved, both plaintiff's and all of defendants, except the easterly piece of what is now the John Scowcroft & Sons Company property, which was previously owned by and known as the Fratello property (Ex. "X", Nos. 8-20), and which is not involved upon this appeal.

2. In 1907, and while so owning plaintiff's property and the property which they had acquired in said Lot 2, adjoining plaintiff's property on the South, the two Bailey brothers constructed, or caused to be constructed, a railroad spur track upon and across what is now plaintiff's property, and at or about the same time, or shortly thereafter erected a warehouse building on their property in the northwest corner of said Lot 2 (Cudahy-Northwestern Hide Company building), and certain loading platforms on the southern portion of plaintiff's land adjacent to the north side of this building, and along the south side of the spur track, to serve their warehouse building so constructed. From time to time thereafter,

the Bailey brothers erected other warehouse buildings on the property they acquired in said Lot 2, and constructed other and additional loading platforms and other facilities on what is now plaintiff's property, to serve such warehouse buildings, including a concrete team, truck and auto drive to the north of the spur track to facilitate the movement of wagons, and later trucks, in loading on the *north* side of the spur to and from box cars thereon, and also to and from the loading platforms adjoining the spur on the south side thereof; and a hay barn, stable and other buildings were also constructed on what is now plaintiff's land, to the north of this concrete team, truck and auto drive, and at the east end thereof a warehouse building, now known as the Globe Mills building, was constructed.

In connection with the construction of the buildings facing on 5th South Street (Summerhays and Seymour N. Bailey buildings), which were constructed some time after the Northwestern Hide-Cudahy building, there was constructed, at the east end of the Northwestern Hide building, a passage or runway about 10 feet wide running from the loading platforms and spur track in a southerly direction into and to serve these buildings, which had no direct access to the loading platforms, the spur track and other facilities so constructed on what is now plaintiff's property, and these buildings ever since have been and still are served by these loading platforms, spur track, team, track and auto drive and other facilities on plaintiff's property through the said runway. The loca-

tion of the various properties involved and the buildings and facilities erected and constructed thereon may be readily understood by referring to Exhibit 7 and the photographs, Exhibits 1 to 6, inclusive.

3. From the time of the construction of these various buildings and facilities, the entire South $\frac{1}{2}$ of Lot 3 (plaintiff's property) was used *for the benefit of and to serve* the Bailey brothers' property in Lot 2, and the warehouse buildings constructed thereon—the facilities on said South $\frac{1}{2}$ of Lot 3 (plaintiff's property) having been constructed and designed to serve the then owners' property in Lot 2. Throughout the years down to the present time, merchandise has been loaded to and from railroad cars on the spur track to and from the loading platform to the south thereof and over said platform to and from the warehouses abutting the same on the south, and likewise merchandise has been and still is being loaded to and from wagons and trucks to the north of the spur track to and from said loading platform, and over the same to and from said warehouses, and a like use has been and still is being made of the loading platforms at the west edge thereof where the concrete platform and ramp is now located, and virtually the whole of said South $\frac{1}{2}$ of Lot 3 (plaintiff's property) to the west of the Globe Mills building has throughout the years and down to and including the present time been used and is being used to drive wagons and trucks over and upon, to serve the warehouses on Lot 2, through and over said loading platform as it was acquired and de-

signed by the Bailey brothers to do (Ab. 90, 94, 96, 109-110).

4. In the year 1923, and while their properties were being so used, the Bailey brothers commenced severing their ownership of the several properties, and at that time Bert N. Bailey sold and conveyed to his brother, defendant, Seymour N. Bailey, his one-half interest in what is now the Summerhays building or property (subject to certain indebtedness) in exchange for defendant, Seymour Bailey's one-half interest in the South $\frac{1}{2}$ of Lot 3 (plaintiff's property)—the Summerhays property (with other property) at the direction of Seymour Bailey, being conveyed by himself and his wife, and his said brother, Bert N. Bailey and his wife, to the Bailey Company, defendant, Bailey & Sons Company, and which said deed is the one dated August 9, 1923, mentioned and referred to at the beginning of this Statement of Facts, and grants and conveys the easements, rights of way and the right to maintain and use, rebuild and repair the facilities on the South $\frac{1}{2}$ of Lot 3 (plaintiff's property) in the language hereinbefore set out; and in the deed to Bert N. Bailey of defendant, Seymour N. Bailey's, one-half interest in the South $\frac{1}{2}$ of Lot 3 (plaintiff's property), so given in exchange for the above mentioned deed to Bailey & Sons Company, and which is the second deed at the commencement of this Statement of Facts mentioned and referred to, these easements, rights and privileges were reserved to and for the use of Lot 2, in the language secondly hereinbefore set out.

5. Later, Seymour N. Bailey's one-half interest in the Northwestern Hide Company property (old Cudahy building) was conveyed to the present owner, Colorado Animal By-Products Company, with Bert N. Bailey, or his estate, retaining and continuing to own his one-half interest therein (now owned by Bert Bailey's son, defendant Robert Bailey Whitehill), and the old Scowcroft building property was sold to the present owner, Scowcroft Company, with the deeds of conveyance in each instance granting and conveying the same easements, rights of way and privileges that had been granted and reserved in the above mentioned deeds between Bert and Seymour Bailey (Exhibit "X", No. 88). At the time of all of these conveyances and down to the time of his death, Bert N. Bailey (one of plaintiff's predecessors in interest) himself owned property in Lot 2, which was served by the south $\frac{1}{2}$ of Lot 3 (plaintiff's property), and the facilities thereon—the property so owned by Bert Bailey in 1923, when and after he became the sole owner of said South $\frac{1}{2}$ of Lot 3 (plaintiff's property) under the deeds of conveyance between the Bailey brothers above referred to, consisting of an undivided one-half interest in the old Scowcroft building property and a like interest in the Seymour N. Bailey building and the Northwestern Hide & Fur Company building, which two last mentioned properties he continued to own to the time of his death, and the same is now, as above noted, owned by his heir and son, the defendant, Robert Bailey Whitehill.

6. In August 1928 when plaintiff acquired title to the South $\frac{1}{2}$ of Lot 3, as a mesne successor in interest of Bert N. Bailey and his brother, the defendant, Seymour N. Bailey, the easements, rights of way, loading platforms and other facilities above mentioned were open, visible and apparent thereon, and in open and continuous use by the defendants or their predecessors in interest just as they had been for more than twenty years, and the deeds above mentioned, wherein the easements, rights and privileges were granted and reserved, were properly of record in the office of the County Recorder of Salt Lake County, Utah, and the deed of the property to plaintiff expressly referred to these easements and rights of way, and made the conveyance subject thereto in the language thirdly set out at the beginning of this Statement of Facts.

7. About May or June of 1932, the defendants, or some of them, replaced a portion of the old lumber loading platform on the south line of plaintiff's property and adjoining the Northwestern Hide & Fur Company building, with a concrete loading platform or ramp, and paved with concrete the area from the foot of this ramp to the west line of plaintiff's property, and also an area of some 6 or 7 feet in width between such west line and the city sidewalk.

8. Prior to the construction of this concrete ramp, the area south of the spur track was not surfaced in any way, and in wet weather the ground became muddy and soggy, resulting in a virtual mud hole, making it ex-

tremely difficult to drive trucks and wagons over it in approaching and backing up to the loading platforms, and necessitating frequent dumping of cinders in the area to fill up the mud holes and make it passable (Ab. 99, 121). Some idea of the condition of this area prior to the laying of the concrete may be gained from an inspection of the photograph, Exhibit 1, showing an area in the region of the city sidewalk and west thereof where the unsurfaced ground has been cut up by trucks and wagons, and even in dry weather still has a small pool of water standing on the ground.

As previously noted, all of the foregoing facts are either admitted by the pleadings or stand uncontroverted in the record, and the only dispute in the testimony relates to the width at its western extremity of the portion of the old wooden platform that was replaced by the present concrete platform and ramp, and as to whether, in laying such concrete, the defendants covered more area than was covered by the portion of the old wooden platform so replaced by such concrete, but as the trial court's findings and decree, in excluding defendants from all of plaintiff's property north of the spur track, as well as some south thereof, is against law under and does violence to the admitted facts in the case, from which it appears that by the reservations and grants above set out, as well as the use made of plaintiff's property for more than thirty years, and the interpretation thereby placed upon such grants and reservations, defendants have, and are, as a matter of law, entitled to easements and rights of way over portions of plain-

tiff's land from which they are excluded by the decree; and as they had, as a matter of law, the right to surface the area over which they had such rights of way, including that south of the railroad spur, and to rebuild their loading platforms thereon, the above mentioned dispute in the testimony is of little, if any, importance upon this appeal, and will be considered only in relation to plaintiff's claim that the burden upon his property has been unreasonably increased by the surfacing of the portion now covered by the concrete.

Upon the facts above detailed, the trial court ordered "that plaintiff have judgment against the defendants in accordance with the prayer of the complaint" (Ab. 139), which, as previously noted, prayed that plaintiff's title be quieted against all claims of defendants, and that defendants be restrained from using plaintiff's land, or any part thereof, for any purpose whatsoever (Ab. 4); but not even counsel for plaintiff had the temerity to propose such a decree in view of the evidence in the case, and a decree of counsel's making was, therefore, entered, which is contrary to the record and the evidence, and in violation and disregard of the express terms of the grants and reservations above set out, excludes defendants from the use of the team track or auto drive and property to the north of the spur track, and limits defendants' rights in plaintiff's property to the maintenance of a platform over a small portion of the property to the south of the spur track, to review which judgment or decree, and the actions of the trial court

leading up to the entry thereof, this appeal has been perfected.

STATEMENT OF ERRORS, QUESTIONS FOR
DETERMINATION AND BRIEF OF
THE ARGUMENT.

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