1940

Joseph F. Merrill v. Bailey & Sons Company;
Seymour N. Bailey and Emma Z. Bailey; J. W.
Summerhays & Sons Company; Colorado Animal
By-Products Company; Leona B. Whitehill; Robert
Bailey Whitehill; C. E. Summerhays; J. J.
Summerhays; and John Snowcroft & Sons
Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

The points relied upon by the appellants will be discussed in order:

Point A.

It is contended that the court erred in denying the defendants' motion for judgment on the pleadings. The appellants urge that the reply introduced a new and different cause of action; that the issues were framed by the several answers and replies; and that the complaint went entirely out of the law suit. A few cases are cited to sustain the proposition that the character of a law suit may not be changed and a new cause of action introduced. Neither the proposition urged or the cases cited are in point. As observed in the statement of the case, the complaint was not one merely to quiet title but included a specific allegation that the defendants had wrongfully constructed a concrete ramp upon the plaintiff's land without his consent; they were asserting and claiming the right to use it, and that unless required to remove it the plaintiff would suffer irreparable injury. The prayer is for a decree quieting title as against the claims asserted by the defendants, *and for a decree requiring removal of the concrete ramp and restraining the de-*

fendants from using the plaintiff's property. (Abs. 2-4.) When the defendants denied the allegations as to the ownership of the plaintiff's property and the wrongfulness of the use and maintenance of the ramp, issues of fact were framed. This will become apparent upon an examination of the complaint, and the allegations contained in paragraphs numbers two, three, four, five and six of the answer of Seymour N. Bailey and wife. (Abs. 5-8.) Similar allegations appear in the answers of the other appealing defendants. As a further defense the defendants refer to the reservations in the two deeds dated in 1923, and allege that the loading platforms and roadways were open, visible and apparent when the property comprising lots 2 and 3 was divided. It is alleged in paragraph eight of the Seymour Bailey answer (and similar allegations appear in all of the other answers) that the plaintiff enlarged and extended a platform attached to his warehouse which unlawfully interferes with the defendants' free use of their easements. (Abs. 14-15.) The prayer is that the defendants' title be quieted as to their easements and right of ways and that the plaintiff be required to remove the platform so enlarged. This is obviously a counterclaim, although not designated as such. The replies to the several answers are substantially the same. The affirmative allegations in the answers to the effect that the defendants had the right to use the plaintiff's land for roadway purposes and to use the ramp as at present constituted are denied. It is admitted that the deeds containing the reservations were executed but all of the allegations as to the meaning and construction of the deeds are denied.

Apparently the defendants take the position that

when the plaintiff admitted that in 1923 a lumber platform approximately 10 feet wide and 75 feet long stood on his property and alleged that a concrete ramp covering a much larger area was constructed in 1932, there was a departure from the cause of action stated in the complaint. This contention is without merit for the reason that the charge is made in the complaint that the defendants wrongfully and without the consent of the plaintiff constructed and are using the *very concrete ramp*, and assert and claim the right to use it. Issues of fact are also raised by the pleadings as to the right to use all of the plaintiff's property as a right of way, and as to the right of plaintiff to enlarge his own lumber loading platform.

It is elementary that if the pleadings present material issues of fact, the motion for judgment on the pleadings must be denied.

49 C. J. 670, Sec. 948;

Miller v. White, 258 P. 565;

Oleson v. Pincock, 68 Utah 507, 251 P. 23;

Mapleton v. Kelley, 39 Utah 252, 117 P. 52.

If the motion is made by the defendants it may be treated as a general demurrer and be governed by the rules applicable thereto.

Coburn v. Bartholomew, 50 Utah 566, 167 P. 1156.

It is not even argued that the complaint does not state a cause of action. The only argument is that the replies

state a new cause of action and as shown above this is without merit.

Neve v. Allen, 55 Kan. 638, 41 P. 966.

Furthermore, if they did, this point could not be raised by a motion for judgment on the pleadings.

Mills v. Hart, 24 Colo. 505, 52 P. 680;

Wilson v. Jones, 67 Okla. 6, 168 P. 194.

The replies are not inconsistent with the complaint. The complaint says that the defendants have without the consent of the plaintiff constructed and maintained upon his property a large concrete ramp and the replies merely deny affirmative allegations that the defendants have certain easements over the plaintiff's property including the right to maintain and use the ramp and narrow the issues somewhat by admitting that the defendants have the right to maintain a smaller lumber platform. There is nothing unusual about the pleadings. If counsel's position is sound the pleader in drafting his complaint would have to anticipate just what easements or interests in the property the defendant will claim and negative them in the complaint. The trial court very properly denied the motion.

Point B.

It is next contended that the trial court erred in making findings of fact which confine the defendants' easements to the use of the property south of the spur track and to the use and maintenance of a platform covering

the same area as it covered in 1923 at the time of the severance of Lots 2 and 3. At the outset, on page 24 of their brief it should be noted that the appellants admit that "their rights are determined by the deeds and the grants or reservations therein contained and they can neither detract from nor add to the rights therein granted and reserved." It should also be noted that the appellants do not refer to the specific property conveyed by the deeds, but attempt to give the impression that all of the property ever owned by Seymour or Bert Bailey or by Bailey & Sons is benefited by every grant or reservation. Let us analyze the deeds:

The deed from Seymour to Bert Bailey dated August 9, 1923, described only the property now owned by the plaintiff. It will be noted that it expressly states that the reservations of the right to the use of the trackage and to the team truck or auto drive along the track are for the benefit of Lot 2 for the loading and unloading of merchandise. There is nothing said about which side of the track the team truck or auto drive was on. The evidence indicates that at one time a team, truck and auto drive along the north side of the track was used for the benefit, not of Lot 2, but Lot 3, as a means of ingress and egress to and from the warehouse now owned by the plaintiff and, an old hay barn. The hay barn burned down in 1918 and the road fell into disuse. As observed by appellants, the old concrete road is now covered with gravel. The roadway along the track used for loading and unloading in 1923 was the one along the south side of the tracks by means of which trucks and wagons loaded and

unloaded merchandise upon and from the lumber loading platform. As shown by the attached diagram, the loading platform in the rear of the properties involved in this appeal, which the court found was only 10 feet wide and was quite a distance from the old roadway north of the tracks which led at one time to the hay barn and to the warehouse, but the roadway to the south of the tracks was located adjacent to the lumber platform and was used for loading and unloading merchandise. The deed refers to only one roadway and the parties obviously had reference to the road south of the tracks. The deeds themselves, and the evidence as to the relative location of the platform and the spur track are sufficient to support the findings of the trial court.

The reference to the "north line thereof" found in the deed to Bailey & Sons Company is relied upon to indicate that the team, truck and auto drive was on the north side of the track. *Counsel does not point out that this grant of a right of way is for the benefit only of the lot in the Southwest corner of Lot 2 now owned by Summerhays.* The argument is deceptive in that it attempts to impress the reader that the deed to Bailey & Sons Company described, in connection with this grant, *all of the property in Lot 2.* It is significant that the property to be benefited is in the southwest corner of Lot 2. The old road to the hay barn and the warehouse would be of no benefit to the lot so situated, but the roadway south of the track between the track and the old lumber platform would be the one vital to the needs of the occupant of the Summerhays property and the only one used. Further-

more a reading of the entire deed from the abstract, Exhibit J. Entry 50, (not from the excerpts quoted by appellant) will indicate clearly that the reference to the "north line thereof" means the north line of "said Lot" meaning Lot 2. It described the railroad spur and auto drive as both being along the north line of the lot through and over a part of the south $\frac{1}{2}$ of Lot 3. If the deed had conveyed, the Scowcroft property located some distance east, there may have been some merit to counsels' contention, but there is none, with reference to the Summerhays property or any other property. *Again we reiterate that the grant in the Bailey & Sons Company deed is the only one that mentions any north line, and it specifically described the Summerhays property and that only as the dominant estate.*

The grant is not as counsel contends for the benefit of all of Lot 2.

Under Point B counsel repeatedly refers to the words "and to the premises" which it is claimed should be included in the description of the easements reserved in the Seymour Bailey—Bert Bailey deed. It is claimed that those words intended to reserve a right of way over *all of plaintiff's property*. As pointed out the words do not appear in the abstract of the deed, Entry 37, Exhibit J. The trial court has as much right to base its finding upon the description in Exhibit J as it would have had to base it upon the abstract, Exhibit X, or upon any other abstract. Under the circumstances the finding of the trial court should not be disturbed.

Flinders v. Hunter, 60 Utah 314, 208 P. 526;

James v. Jensen, 50 Utah 485, 167 P. 827.

Point C.

The appellants contend that the findings of fact, conclusions of law and decree as to the location and dimensions of the loading platform described in the deeds are not supported by the evidence. Before discussing the testimony of the various witnesses, let us reexamine the reservation in the deeds with respect to the loading platform. In the deed from Seymour to Bert Bailey (Exhibit J, Entry 37) it will be noted that the platform is described as follows:

“About 10 feet wide including the overlapping roof for said platform including also the curve thereof along the railway spur as at present constructed with full right to repair, reconstruct or rebuild the same within its present location.” (Italics ours.)

It is admitted by appellants as observed above that:

“The parties are bound and their rights are determined by the deeds and grants and the reservations therein contained and they can neither detract from nor add to the rights therein contained.” (App. Br. 24.)

Yet they immediately forsake this proposition and contend that the trial court erred in finding and decreeing that the rights of appellants *were* determined by the deeds. They would have this court believe that the express limitations to the effect that a platform “about 10 feet wide” could be maintained and used “as at present constructed” and could be rebuilt “within its present location,” are meaningless and that the defendants could properly construct a concrete ramp upon the plaintiff’s

property which is, in its widest place, more than five times the width of the original lumber platform. It is claimed that since the appellants had a right of way over the area south of the tracks to drive to and from the loading platform, they had a right to grade it and surface it and that was all they were doing when they constructed the ramp over the entire southwest corner of the plaintiff's property covering fifty-six feet of his frontage, without his knowledge and consent. Such an argument clearly does violence to the express limitations in the deeds of the right to maintain the platform "as at present constructed" and in "its present location."

Testimony was offered by both plaintiff and defendant as to the size and location of the platform. The defendants' witnesses testified that the west edge of the platform was 32 feet wide and that it covered nearly the same area as is covered by the concrete ramp. A sharp conflict arose as to whether the west edge of the lumber platform was 32 feet wide or 10 feet wide. The court found that at the time of the severance of the property now owned by the plaintiff, from the appellants' property, the lumber loading platform covered the following described land:

"Beginning at a point 7.3 feet East of the Southwest corner of Lot 3, Block 43, Plat 'A,' Salt Lake City Survey; thence North 10.7 feet; thence East 34 Feet; thence North 14.6 feet; thence South approximately 70 degrees East 61.2 feet following the curve of the Oregon Short Line Tracks and on the South side thereof; thence South 5.0 feet to the south side of said Lot 3; thence West 91.7 feet to point of be-

ginning. Also steps to said platform extending 7 feet west and 5 feet North from the Southwest corner of said platform." (Finding of Fact No. 13, Abs. 149.)

This finding is assailed as unsupported by the evidence and it is even contended that the description was supplied *de hors* the record by someone after the case was tried and submitted. This contention is entirely groundless. The following evidence supports the finding as to the size and location of the lumber platform as it existed August 9, 1923.

Testimony of Joseph F. Merrill is that the location and size of the platform was, as shown by the map, Exhibit L, and by the insurance company maps, Exhibits M and N. It will be noted that the very dimensions specified in finding No. 13 appear on the map, Exhibit L. (Abs. 84, 85—Tr. 166, 167.)

Testimony of Arnold Evans that in 1926 he was employed at the warehouse now occupied by the Colorado Animal By-Products Company, but then occupied by the Kelly-Springfield Tire Company. He describes the platform as follows:

"Q. Will you describe the platform at the rear of the building when you went there?

A. Well, there was a platform extending out from the building, I would say about 10 feet with steps leading from the third west side up to the platform to the first door, if I remember correctly. After that it extended out almost to the spur track.

Q. On which side of the first door was the extension?

A. I think on the east side." (Tr. 328.)

Mr. Evans indicated the locations of the two doors in the north of the warehouse with a red pencil. (See Exhibit R.)

Eugene H. Merrill measured the distance from the west side of the west door which is the first door referred to by Mr. Evans and found it to be 36 feet. (Abs. 135, 136, Tr. 233.) He found the width of the west door to be 6 feet and the distance from the north side of the building to the widest point of the wooden platform which is located on the property at present and which the testimony shows was not changed when the concrete ramp was constructed to be 23 feet. The distance from the west side of the building to the sidewalk at the northwest corner was found to be 6.7 feet. There is no contention made by appellants that the location of the building now occupied by Colorado Animal By-Products Company or the location of the west door has been changed during the last 20 years.

Mr. Evans testified also that Exhibits P, Q and R, the first two being railroad maps of the Oregon Short Line and the Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroads and the latter being a drawing made by E. H. Merrill from other maps fairly represent the platform as it was in 1926. (Abs. 123-128.) The Oregon Short Line map shows the dimensions of the platform to be the same as described in the findings and decree. The witness also testified that the area indicated in red pencil immediately north of the Colorado Animal By-Products Company warehouse shows the additions made by the Kelly-Springfield Tire Company in 1926. (Abs. 125.)

Willard Snow who also worked at the Kelly-Springfield warehouse in 1926 described the platform as follows:

“Q. Will you describe the platform as it was when you went there?

A. You mean the one just directly north of the building. That was about—there was some steps leading up to this platform, almost at the corner of the building, up to this platform. This platform was about, I imagine around ten, maybe eleven feet wide, and then from this main platform there was another little ramp, probably oh, maybe, five feet, maybe, leading up to the west door.

Q. And on the east what was the platform?

A. The east?

Q. Yes.

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